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Bef ore: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

This is a civil penalty proceeding initiated by the
petitioner against the respondent pursuant to section 110(a) of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O
820(a). Petitioner seeks a civil penalty assessnment in the anmount
of $1,000 for an alleged violation of nandatory safety standard
30 CF.R 0O 75.316. The respondent filed a tinmely answer
contesting the alleged violation, and a hearing was held in
Bi rm ngham Al abana. The parties filed posthearing argunents, and
| have considered themin ny adjudication of this nmatter.

| ssues

The issues presented in this proceeding include the
follow ng: (1) Whether the respondent violated the cited
mandat ory safety standard; (2) whether the alleged violation was
significant and substantial (S&S); and (3) whether the alleged
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violation cited in the contested section 104(d)(2) order resulted
froman unwarrantable failure by the respondent to conply with
the cited standard.

Assum ng the violation is established, the question next
presented is the appropriate civil penalty to be assessed
pursuant to the civil penalty assessnent criteria found in
section 110(i) of the Act. Additional issues raised by the
parties are identified and di sposed of in the course of this
deci si on.

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C
0 301, et seq

2. Sections 110(a), 110(i), 104(d), and 105(d) of the Act.
3. Mandatory safety standard 30 C.F.R 0O 75. 316.
4. Comm ssion Rules, 29 C.F.R 0O 2700.1, et seq.
Sti pul ati ons
The parties stipulated to the following (Tr. 8-9):

1. The respondent is a large mine operator subject to
the jurisdiction of the Act.

2. Payment of the civil penalty assessed for the
all eged violation in question will not adversely affect
the respondent's ability to continue in business.

3. The respondent tinely abated the alleged violative
condition in good faith.

Di scussi on

The contested section 104(d)(2) S&S Order No. 3188462,
i ssued by MSHA I nspector Judy A. McCorm ck on February 1, 1989,
cites an alleged violation of nandatory safety standard 30 C. F.R
0 75.316, and the condition or practice cited is described a
fol |l ows:

The current approved ventilation Methane and Dust
Control Plan was not being conplied with in the face of
the No. 2 entry. The roof bolting machine was in the
face and the blowi ng curtain was not being used. It was
| ayi ng on the machi ne. The extendable line curtain (Bo
Strip) had been taken down back to the pernmanent
curtain which was 24 feet fromthe deepest point of
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penetration of the face. This is the third such violation in 3
i nspection shifts. The crosscut to the right was being turned in
on the third cut.

Petitioner's Testinmony and Evi dence

MSHA | nspector Judy A. McCorm ck confirmed that she
i nspected the nunmber two entry of the nunber 10 section on
February 1, 1989. She stated that she found two roof bolters
standi ng by an energi zed roof-bolting machi ne, and the
ventil ation extendi ng exhausting line curtain was 24 feet from
the face of the nunmber two crosscut. This condition was a
vi ol ation of the respondent's ventilation plan because the pl an
required the curtain to be maintained to within 10 feet of the
deepest point of penetration of all working places except during
the extraction of pillars (Tr. 13-15).

Ms. McCormick identified exhibit P-3 as the respondent's
approved ventilation plan, and she stated that the provision
whi ch was viol ated appears at page 10, item H-1. She stated that
this provision has been in effect for several years. She
confirmed that the nunmber two entry was a working face, and that
pillars were not being mned because it was an advanci ng section
(Tr. 16).

Ms. McCormick stated that the curtain nmust be maintained to
within 10 feet of the face in order to provide ventilation to the
face and to control methane and carry away dust, and if this is
not done, there is a potential for nethane build-up. The nmine is
a gassy mine and it is subject to weekly spot inspections. The
average annual nmethane |iberation through the five mne fans was

in excess of 11 million cubic feet every 24 hours, and in the
event the curtain is not maintained to within 10 feet of the face
it is very likely that nethane will accunulate at the face (Tr.
17-18).

Ms. McCorm ck believed that nmethane accunul ati ons presented
an ignition, fire, and explosion hazard, and that "bad burn"
injuries would be highly likely in the event of a fire,
expl osion, or ignition. She confirnmed that prior to her
i nspecti on MSHA conducted an investigation of a methane face
ignition which occurred when a line curtain was not maintai ned
within 10 feet of the face, and this resulted in burns to two
people (Tr. 19-21, exhibit P-4).

Ms. McCormick identified exhibit P-5, as copies of two prior
citations which she issued on the nunmber 10 section during the
day shift for failure to maintain the line curtain to within 10
feet of the face (Tr. 23-24). She also confirnmed the issuance of
a prior section 104(d)(2) order on the nunber 9 section where
anot her order was still outstanding, and another occasi on on that
section when 1.4 percent nethane accunul ated at the face when a
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curtain was taken down and the respondent was not aware of it
because there was no nethane detector avail able and the foreman
had not tested for nethane. She confirned that she issued an

i mm nent danger order in that instance (Tr. 26, Exhibits P-6

t hrough P-8).

Ms. McCorm ck expl ai ned that she issued the unwarrantable
failure order in this case for the follow ng reasons (Tr. 27):

A | felt that it could have been a particularly
hazardous situation and since this was true, the
operator had a heightened duty to be aware of what

el ectrical equi pment was doing in the face. Also it was
repetitious of previous violations on this section as
well as in the mne

Ms. McCorm ck further explained that the roof-bolting
machi ne was an ignition source because it generates heat capable
of igniting nethane. Machine permissibility violations and
friction fromthe drill bits would also be sources of ignition
and she considered these factors in the context of continued roof
bolti ng work. She al so considered the prior unwarrantable failure
and i mm nent danger orders (Tr. 28-29).

Ms. McCormick confirmed that she determ ned the distance the
extendabl e curtain was back fromthe face by neasuring it with a
tape, and she confirned that she took a methane reading of 0.2
percent approximately 20 to 22 feet fromthe face. She would
expect the nmethane reading to be higher at the face because of
poor ventilation due to the distance of the curtain fromthe face
(Tr. 30-33).

On cross-exam nation, Ms. MCornick confirmed that when she
arrived at the area in question the roof bolters were not bolting
and were performng no work. She stated that they told her that
they had pulled the extendabl e curtain back and were preparing to
start roof bolting after installing the blowi ng curtain. Ms.
McCormick confirmed that the installation of the blowing curtain
is a normal practice during roof bolting (Tr. 37). However, she
stated that the extendable curtain should not have been pulled
back prior to the installation of the blowing curtain, and that
the roof bolters admitted that they were aware of this, but
of fered no explanation as to why they had done it out of sequence
(Tr. 38). She stated that the roof-bolting machi ne was positioned
to begin roof bolting (Tr. 42).

Ms. McCormick stated that the area in question was a worKking
pl ace, that coal had previously been extracted, and the place was
being prepared to be roof bolted (Tr. 45-46). She reiterated that
she based her unwarrantable failure finding on the fact that
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the respondent had a heightened duty to insure that the cited
practice was not occurring in the face area, particularly in
light of the hazardous situation caused by the failure to

mai ntain the curtain to within 10 feet of the face (Tr. 48).

Ms. McCormick stated that the section foreman was not with
the roof bolters when she arrived on the section and she met him
while | eaving the section, but could not recall speaking with him
(Tr. 50). She agreed that the ow shift and day shift were
changi ng pl aces, that a miner had just finished cutting coal and
was going to another entry, and that the two roof bolters had
just entered the area to begin bolting, but had not actually
comrenced bolting (Tr. 52-53).

Ms. McCorm ck agreed that the two roof bolters had been
present in the area for a very short tinme, and that they would
normal ly install the blowing curtain, wthdraw the extendabl e
curtain, and begin bolting. She confirmed that when she arrived
in the area, the roof bolters had noved the extendable curtain
back and had not put up the blowing curtain (Tr. 54). Al that
was required to abate and termi nate the order was the
installation of the blowing curtain. She confirmed that the
bl owi ng curtain was laying on the roof-bolting machine (Tr. 56).

Ms. McCormck stated that a ventilation curtain was up at
the | ast row of permanent roof supports where she took the
nmet hane readi ng, and that the roof-bolting machi ne was being
ventilated. She confirmed that she did not check the nachine for
any permissibility violations, assunmed that it was pernissible,
and that no machine tramm ng or roof bolting was taking place
(Tr. 59). She stated that any "S&S" finding would be based on
continuing normal m ning operations, and that she woul d have
expected the roof bolters to start bolting (Tr. 59). She believed
they would have installed the blowing curtain if they had
i ntended to do so before commenci ng bolting, but conceded that
she did not ask the bolters what they intended to do next or
whet her they intended to install the blowi ng curtain before they
began bolting (Tr. 60).

Ms. McCorm ck did not know if the two roof bolters were
i nvolved in any of the previous citations, but she confirned that
Foreman Rollins was involved in the two prior citations on the
nunber 10 section. There was no equi pnent in place in those
i nstances, and the curtain had sinply not been kept up after the
bolti ng and servicing of the equipnent had been conpleted, and no
m ning activity was taking place (Tr. 61-62).

Ms. McCormick agreed that the narrative statements
supporting the "special"™ civil penalty assessnent for the contested
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order which indicate that roof bolting was taking place wthout
the bl owing curtain up, and that the blow ng system of
ventilation was not being used during roof bolting are incorrect
(Tr. 67-69).

Ms. McCorm ck agreed that the roof bolters were present for
5 to 10 minutes at nost before she arrived at the place in
guestion, and she woul d not have expected the fire boss to see
the condition and take corrective action. Wth regard to the
section foreman, she believed that in Iight of the prior history
of citations, the foreman "should check when equi pment operators
go into a place to make sure that they are | egal before they
start" (Tr. 73).

Ms. McCormick stated that even if the roof bolters had
pul | ed back the extended curtain with the intention of putting up
the blowing curtain they would still be in violation because one
type of ventilation nmay not be renoved in preparation of
installing another type and the face ventilation nust be
mai ntai ned 10 feet fromthe face at all times (Tr. 77-78). In
view of the fact that the blowing curtain was on the machine, Ms.
McCor mi ck concluded that no attenpt was nade to install the
bl owi ng ventilation systemprior to nmoving back the exhaust
system The proper sequence woul d have been to put up the bl ow ng
curtain first before pulling the extendable curtain back. It may
not be done in reverse order because the face would be left
unventilated. In this case, the blowing curtain was sinply |aying
on the machi ne. She explained that the curtain normally is stored
on the machine, but that in this case it was there because it had
not been installed to within 10 feet of the face (Tr. 79-81).

Ms. McCormick confirmed that the roof bolters told her that
they had pull ed back the blowing curtain, and even if they had
told her they were going to install it, it would not have nade
any difference because there was no ventilation at the face (Tr.
85). She confirmed that the two roof bolters were fromthe "ow
shift" and had not been replaced by the day shift, and that the
shifts were just changing. She confirned that the nmachines are
not usually shutdown between shifts and they are usually in use
bet ween shifts. The m dnight shift foreman, M. Rollins, was
still in charge of the bolters (Tr. 87).

Ms. McCormick confirmed that the blow ng curtain should have
been installed on the |last row of permanent roof supports and
that this would have placed the curtain 22 to 24 feet fromthe
face until the last two rows of bolts are installed and miners
are pulling out (Tr. 88). She confirned that the face area was
not being ventilated by either the blowi ng ventilation system or
t he exhaust system However, there would still be some air at
part of the face, but not the ampbunt which would normally be
distributed if the line curtain were closer to the face. She
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agreed that there was no activity within 24 feet of the face at
the tine the order was issued (Tr. 92).

Ms. McCormick confirmed that ventilation plan item 2 on page
10 was partially conplied with in that the regular line brattice
was installed to within 30 feet of the face, but the extended
line curtain was not within 10 feet of the face as required by
the plan provision at the top of page 11 which states "an
extended line curtain to within 10 feet of the face as left by
t he continuous mning crew' (Tr. 93).

Respondent's Testi nony and Evi dence

Joseph Nogosky, Safety Manager, U. S. Steel, Southern
Division, testified that he was aware of the circunstances
surroundi ng the issuance of the contested order because he
conducted an investigation inmediately after the m dnight shift
came out of the m ne. He spoke with the shift foreman d en
Rollins, and M. Rollins infornmed himthat the inspector issued
the order for not having the blowi ng curtain up while the roof
bolter was operating. M. Rollins told himthat he did not know
what occurred because he spent nost of the shift 500 feet from
the face working on a problemat the feeder and was not aware
that the inspector was on the section until she told himthat she
had i ssued the order (Tr. 107).

M. Nogosky stated that the two roof bolters in question
were experienced, and he confirmed that during the course of his
i nvestigation regarding the contested order, the roof bolters
informed himthat while the roof-bolting machi ne was being
tramred into the face area, it was turned toward the right corner
of the entry at an angle and the ATRS at the front of the machine
became entangled in the extendable line curtain. The machi ne was
st opped, and the extendable curtain was retracted so that it
coul d be disentangled fromthe machi ne. The roof bolter operator
got out of the machine and was preparing to hang up the bl ow ng
curtain when Ms. McCorm ck appeared on the scene. The bolters
tried to explain that the machi ne had hooked up on the curtain
but the inspector said it did not matter, left to make a nethane
check, and told the bolters to put the curtain up (Tr. 108-111).

M. Nogosky stated that the use of the blowing curtain is a
ventilation plan provision inposed by MSHA as part of the
approved mine ventilation plan, and he explained that the roof
bolters would first position the roof-bolting nmachi ne where they
were going to put up their first row of bolts. They would then
extend the extendable curtain to within 10 feet of the face and
then put up the blowing curtain and slide the extendable curtain
back. In this case, in view of the fact that the extendabl e
curtain got caught in the nmachine, they retracted it before
putting up the blowing curtain. He stated that he woul d probably
have done the sanme thing under the circunstances (Tr. 116). He
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al so stated that the roof bolters told himthat they had just
pull ed the machine in "no nore than a couple of mnutes" before
Ms. McCorm ck arrived, and that they intended to put up the

bl owi ng curtain and start bolting (Tr. 117-118).

In response to bench questions as to why the roof bolters in
guestion were not called to testify in this case, M. Nogosky
expl ai ned that they expressed a willingness to testify at the
time the order was issued because they were upset that it was
i ssued and they were afraid that they would be disciplined by the
conmpany. In view of their work records, and his belief that they
were telling the truth about the curtain being entangled in the
machi ne, M. Nogosky decided not to discipline the roof bolters.
However, when he contacted themto testify in this case, they
stated that they had changed their mnds and did not wish to
testify. Respondent's counsel indicated that it was then too late
to subpoena the bolters for testinony (Tr. 120-123).

M. Nogosky did not believe that the violation was an
unwarrant abl e failure because the foreman was not present, and
the two roof bolters were trying to do the right thing when the
curtain becane entangled in the machine when it was operating in
a narrow space. He stated that it is not unusual for ventilation
to be interrupted by a rock fall, or a piece of equipnment running
into a curtain, and as long as such a situation is recognized and
steps are taken to correct it, he did not believe that such an
occurrence would constitute a violation of the ventilation
standard (Tr. 126).

On cross-exam nation, M. Nogosky confirmed that he did not
acconpany Ms. MCormnick during the inspection, and that section
foreman Rollins was not aware that she was on the section. He
confirmed that he conducted his investigation of the order the
sanme day it was issued, and he confirned that the chairman of the
safety conmittee, the general nine foreman, and the acting nmne
superintendent were present during his inquiry. He confirned that
Ms. McCorm ck did not participate in his inquiry, and that he
made no effort to contact her because on prior occasions when he
has asked her to participate in such investigations she has
declined (Tr. 129-133). M. Nogosky confirmed that he sinply made
notes of the investigation, which | asted "naybe a coupl e of
hours, " but that he prepared no formal report, and had nothing in
writing to support his testinmony concerning what the roof bolters
told him (Tr. 134).

M. Nogosky conceded that the approved ventilation plan
required the blowing curtain to be put up first before the
extendabl e curtain was put up, and that in this case the bl ow ng
curtain was not up when the inspector was there. He di sagreed
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that this situation warranted an order, but that "if you go
strictly by the letter of the plan wi thout taking in any
mtigating circunstances,” he agreed that a section 104(a)
citation would have been in order (Tr. 141).

M. Nogosky stated that one of the roof bolters told him
that he had a hook which is used for hanging the blow ng curtain
in his hand when Ms. McCorm ck appeared, and M. Nogosky believed
that one could assunme that the roof bolter was going to put up
the curtain (Tr. 143). M. Nogosky stated if the blow ng curtain
was not |ong enough to reach, it was possible that this prevented
the roof bolters fromputting it up. However, he conceded that
this woul d depend on the prevailing situation, and that he was
not present when the conditions were observed and cited by the
i nspector (Tr. 144-145).

M. Nogosky stated that he was not aware whet her the two
roof bolters in question were ever disciplined in the past by the
respondent, and according to his review of their records, they
were not. He conceded that they may have received verbal warnings
whi ch may not appear in their records. He confirmed that MIton
Presl ey was the day shift foreman on the day the order was
i ssued, but that he was not responsible for the two roof bolters.
Since the violation did not occur on his shift, he did not
interview himduring his investigation. He stated that M.
Presl ey normally would not have been at the | ocation of the
vi ol ati on because his shift starts at 7:00 a.m, and it takes 35
to 45 minutes to get to the nunber 10 section (Tr. 145-148).

M . Nogosky confirned that U S. Steel has disciplined
foreman Paul Boyd within the past 6 nonths for failing to have
the Iine curtains within 10 feet of the face, and that this was
in connection with the violation issued in Cctober, 1988 (Tr.
149).

M. Nogosky expl ained that a "hot seat change out" is when
the owm shift and day shift are exchangi ng places, and the ow
shift does not |eave until the day shift arrives and i medi ately
takes over the work. He explained that the two roof bolters in
question had not as yet ended their work, and at the time the
order was issued, they would have been in the process of bolting
since the day crew had not as yet arrived to change out with them
(Tr. 151).

M. Nogosky stated that he prepared no formal witten report
of his investigation because everyone who woul d receive a copy
was in the roomduring his inquiry, and no disciplinary action
was ever taken against the roof bolters. He also confirmed that
he did not participate in any MSHA civil penalty conference in
this case because he has never prevailed and believes that it is
a waste of time (Tr. 154). M. Nogosky conceded that even though
the extendabl e curtain may have been torn down by the nachi ne,
the bl owing curtain was not installed, and the roof bolters noved
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t he extendabl e curtain back just before the inspector arrived. He
conceded that if they had installed the blowi ng curtain before

wi t hdrawi ng the damaged extendable curtain, there would have been
no problem He explained that the bolters did not put up the

bl owi ng curtai n because they were concerned about positioning the
machi ne so that they could put up the blowing curtain first and
getting it untangled fromthe other curtain (Tr. 157).

I nspector McCormck was called in rebuttal by the
petitioner, and she confirmed that she arrived on the section
before day shift foreman MIton Presley, but that she net him
when she was | eaving the section after she issued the order. She
could not recall seeing any other managenment personnel at that
time, and did not recall speaking with M. Rollins. She confirmed
that the two roof bolters in question gave her no explanation as
to why the curtain was not up, and she saw no visible evidence
that the curtain had been caught or ripped up in the machi ne. She
further confirned that after observing the violative condition
she did not |eave the area i medi ately, and stayed for sone
mnutes to allow the bolters sufficient time to install the
bl owi ng curtain. She stated that she observed theminstall the
curtain and that it took approximately 5 mnutes (Tr. 161).

Ms. McCormick stated that if the roof bolters had mentioned
tearing down the curtain she woul d have taken this into
consi deration, but she did not know that it would have nade any
di fference because any entangled curtain would not prevent them
frominstalling the blowing curtain prior to pulling back any
ent angl ed extendable curtain (Tr. 166).

On cross-exam nation, Ms. MCormick stated that union safety
committeeman Jerry Jones was with her during her inspection. She
stated that on the nmorning of the hearing in this case, M. Jones
told her that one of the roof bolters had "recently changed his
story" and agreed with M. Nogosky's testinony regarding the torn
curtain, but that the other roof bolter disagreed with this
contention. She also stated that "originally they both disagreed
with M. Nogosky" (Tr. 173). In response to further questions,

Ms. McCormick stated that she personally observed the two roof
bolters putting up the blowing curtain, but she could not recal
seeing any hooks in their hands (Tr. 174).

Jerry Jones, electrician, and chai rman of the UMM nine
safety conmttee, testified that he participated on "the tai
end" of the investigation conducted by M. Nogosky. He stated
that he met roof bolter Harvell after he had been interviewed,
and that when he arrived at the neeting roof bolter Smith was at
the end of his interview, and he could not recall what he said.
M. Jones stated that he did not speak with the roof bolters
until after the investigation was over. He stated that M.
Harvell told himthat they had not knocked the curtain down and
"just actually got caught with the curtain down" (Tr. 177).
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M. Jones did not speak with M. Snith at that tinme, but did
speak with both roof bolters recently, and he talked to them
separately. M. Harvell again told himthat "they just got
caught. They didn't knock the curtain down,” and M. Smith told
hi mthat he knocked the curtain down and "was in the curtain”
(Tr. 178).

M. Jones stated that he attenpted to speak with M. Harvel
and M. Smith together in order to reconcile their stories, but
could not do so. He confirmed that he did not conduct his own
i nvestigation because he found out about the matter |ate, and
that he did not tell M. Nogosky or managenent about the
conflicting stories of M. Harvell and M. Smith because he was
unaware of any investigation until it was nearly conpleted. Since
the two nmen were not disciplined, he believed the matter was over
(Tr. 181).

M. Jones stated that M. Harvell and M. Smith told him
that they woul d appear at the hearing in this matter, and that he
told them"if you get subpoenaed cone and tell it like it
happened” (Tr. 183). He confirnmed that he suggested to themthat
if they were not subpoenaed they did not have to appear at the
hearing (Tr. 183).

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
The Section 104(d) "Chain" |ssue

The respondent would not stipulate that the contested order
issued in this case was procedurally correct and net all of the
statutory requirenents for the section 104(d) sequence or
"chain." The respondent takes the position that the petitioner
made no showi ng that there was no intervening clean inspection of
the entire mne since the issuance of the nobst recent order under
section 104(d). In support of its argunment, the respondent
asserts that the contested order was based on an order issued on
April 4, 1983, but that the npst recent order of record was
i ssued on Cctober 11, 1988, and the inspector did not know of an
unwarrantabl e failure order being issued between Cctober 11
1988, and February 1, 1989, and did not know whether the entire
m ne had been inspected during that sane peri od.

I nspector McCorm ck expl ai ned the procedure that she follows
in determ ning whether there has been any intervening cl ean
i nspection for purposes of the section 104(d)(1) and (d)(2) order
"chain." She confirmed that each mne has a uniformfile which
contains information concerning the "d tracking system"”
including information as to when the initial citations and orders
are issued. She stated that she reviewed the file for the mne in
guestion, and found no intervening clean inspections prior to the
i ssuance of the contested order in this case. Since her
supervisors maintain the current inspection status of the mne, the
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tracki ng system would not have been in the file if there were a
cl ean mne inspection during the intervening period of tinme. She
could not specifically recall whether she had i ssued any section
104(d) (2) orders between Cctober 11, 1988, and February 1, 1989,
but stated that "there were | ost of D-2s issued during that
quarter" (Tr. 98-100).

Respondent's counsel agreed that the mine would have been
conpletely inspector fromApril 4, 1983, until the date of the
i ssuance of the order by Ms. McCormick. Ms. McCorm ck confirmed
that according to the nine file there were no intervening "clean"
m ne inspections during this tine frame, and that to her
know edge the m ne has been "on a d sequence" since April, 1983
(Tr. 101-102).

In view of the unrebutted testinony by the inspector, which
I find probative and credible, and absent any credible evidence
to the contrary, | conclude and find that the contested order
i ssued by I nspector MCorm ck was procedurally correct and net
all of the prerequisite statutory requirenents for the existence
of the "section 104(d) chain" of citations and orders.

Fact of Violation

The respondent is charged with a violation of mandatory
safety standard 30 C.F. R 0O 75. 316, because of its failure to
follow its MSHA approved ventilation and nethane and dust-contro
plan, in the nunber 2 entry of the nunmber 10 section. The
i nspector found that an extendable ventilation Iine curtain was
not being maintained to within 10 feet of the face as required by
the plan, and that an available blow ng ventilation curtain was
not being used. Section 75.316, requires a mne operator to
follow its approved plan, and it is well settled that the failure
to do so constitutes a violation of this section. See: Co-op
M ning Co., 3 MSHC 1206 (1984); Zeigler Coal Conpany, 3 MSHC 1661
(1984); JimWalter Resources, Inc., 3 MSHC 1983 (1985); Monterey
Coal Co., 3 MSHC 1315 (1984).

The inspector confirmed that the applicable face ventilation
pl an provision which was viol ated appears at page 10, paragraph
H 1, and it states as follows: "The extendable Iine curtain or
sliding tube will be maintained to within 10 feet of the face in
all working places except when pillars are being mned" (exhibit
P-3). Paragraph H. 2 of the plan, pgs. 10-11, explains the plan
provisions for the required installation and use of the
ext endabl e line curtain and bl owing curtain during normal roof
bol ti ng operations.

The credi ble and unrebutted testinony of the inspector
establishes that the cited location at the nunber 2 entry was a
wor ki ng face, and that pillars were not being m ned because the
section was an advanci ng section. The inspector's testinony also
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establ i shes that the extendable ventilation Iine curtain was 24
feet fromthe face of the nunber 2 entry and that the bl ow ng
curtain was not installed and was |aying on the roof-bolting
machi ne. The respondent does not dispute the fact that the
bolters took down the extendable line curtain before installing
the blowing curtain, and that the plan required that the bl ow ng
curtain be installed before the extendable line curtain is
retracted during normal roof bolting operations (page 4,
post-hearing brief). Respondent's safety manager Nogosky conceded
that the ventilation plan required the blowing curtain to be put
up first before the extendable curtain was put up, and that in
this case the blowi ng curtain was not up when the inspector
observed the cited conditions. M. Nogosky's testinony does not
rebut the inspector's credible testinony that she determ ned the
di stance of the extendable line curtain fromthe face by neans of
a tape neasure.

The respondent takes the position that the facts presented
in this case do not establish that it has violated its
ventilation plan or section 75.316. In support of this
concl usion, the respondent argues that its approved ventilation
pl an contains a provision that allows it to handl e "abnormal
conditions or situations" on a case-by-case basis, and that in
the instant case the situation found by the inspector was
abnormal, and that in the circunmstances, it was handl ed properly
by the bolters without violating the purpose or intent of the
pl an.

The respondent points out that the plan requirenment for
mai nt ai ni ng the extendable line curtain to within 10 feet of the
face during roof bolting operations is for the purpose of
provi di ng adequate ventilation in the face area. The respondent
mai ntai ns that the plan provision which requires the bl ow ng
curtain to be installed before the extendable curtain is
retracted could not be followed in this case because the bolting
machi ne becane entangled in the extendable line curtain. The
respondent concludes that the roof bolters acted wi sely by
el ecting to disentangl e the extendable curtain and retract it
rather than tearing it down while positioning the machine to
begin bolting, and that the extendable curtain no | onger served
any ventilation purpose in its tangled state. Under these
ci rcunst ances, the respondent further concludes and argues that
the bolters logically were proceeding to install the bl ow ng
curtain when they were interrupted by the inspector. The
respondent further points out that the roof bolting operation had
not commenced when the inspector arrived at the scene, and that
but for the inspector's interference, the blow ng curtain would
have been installed in a mnimum anount of tinme, and there is no
evi dence that the bolters would not have installed the bl ow ng
curtain before commenci ng bolting.

The respondent asserts that the Commi ssion has recogni zed
that tenporary interruptions in ventilation can occur without a
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violation resulting. Citing Freeman United Coal M ning Co., 11
FMSHRC 161 (February 1989), the respondent argues that in that
case the Conmmi ssion considered a simlar situation where an

i nspector directed a mner not to rehang a curtain which had been
torn down by a shuttle car until the inspector could take an air
readi ng, and found no violation. In Freeman, the Com ssion
stated in relevant part as follows at 11 FMSHRC 165:

[I]t is clear that in certain circunmstances, including
t he uni que factual circunmstances presented here, a
temporary interruption in the mininmumair velocity
delivered can occur wi thout a violation of the Act
resul ting.

VWhile mninmumair quantity or velocity requirenents of
ventilation plans and nandatory safety standards
provi de an objective test by which the adequacy of a
m ne ventilation system can be eval uated, other
mandatory ventil ation standards recogni ze that the
dynam cs of the underground m ning environment
occasionally interfere with attai nment of constant

m ni mum quantity or velocity levels. The other
standards recogni ze that disruptions in mne
ventilation inevitably occur and that the key to
effective conpliance lies in expeditiously taking those
steps necessary to restore air quantity or velocity to
the required |evel.

For exanple, it is obvious that an unpl anned power

out age and the temporary shutdown of the main fan wll
reduce the quantity and velocity of air delivered to
the face areas. Such a contingency is anticipated in
the mandatory standards, however, and procedures for
the restoration of air and the steps to be taken if
ventilation cannot be restored within a reasonable tine
are outlined accordingly. See 30 C.F.R

75.300-3(a)(2), 75.321, and 75.321-1

Simlarly, and directly on point with the situation
presented in this case, there are mandatory safety
standards that anticipate the possible dimnution in
ventilation caused by danmaged or downed |ine brattice.
30 C.F.R 0O 75.302, a standard drawn verbatimfromthe
statute, 30 U.S.C. 0O 863(c), requires that "[p]roperly
install ed and adequately maintained |ine brattice
shall be continuously used fromthe |ast open crosscut
of an entry or room of each working section to provide
adequate ventilation . . . . Wen damged by falls or
ot herwi se, such brattice . . . shall be repaired
i medi ately." (Enphasis added.) Furthernore, 30 C.F.R
0 75.302-2 provides that, "[w]lhen the Iine brattice

is damaged to an extent that ventilation of the
wor ki ng face is inadequate, production activities in
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t he worki ng place shall cease until necessary repairs are nade
and adequate ventilation restored.” These standards recogni ze
that line curtains may be damaged or torn down and that
ventilation at the working face may, as a result, be dimnished.
They al so make cl ear, however, that absent any unusua
circunstances, it is the operator's failure to take inmediate
steps to repair or replace the downed line brattice that
constitutes a violation.

And at 11 FMSHRC 166:

[Clompliance with section 75.302-2 would have been
achi eved but for the inspector's order, mstaken as it
may have been, to cease rehanging the line brattice.
Had not the inspector intervened, the mininumair
velocity woul d have been restored al nost i nmediately.
At the very least, the inspector's unwitting
interference with Freeman's abatenment skewed the
results of the air measurenent so as to render it
invalid for purposes of establishing a violation
insofar as the three-foot gap initially observed by the
i nspector is concerned. Under these circunmstances we
concl ude that Freeman did not violate its ventilation
pl an.

Rel yi ng on the Freenan case deci sion, the respondent
concludes that if the inspector had not interrupted the roof
bolters, there is no reason to believe that they would not have
installed the blowi ng curtains before they began to install the
bolts, and that under these circunstances, there was no violation
and the contested order should be vacat ed.

The petitioner takes the position that the evidence clearly
establishes that the respondent violated the clear and explicit
ventilation plan provision which required that the extendabl e
line curtain be within 10 feet of the face, and that the plan, in
cl ear and unanbi guous terms, sets forth the sequence of
installing/retracting line curtains during bolting operations.
The petitioner argues that it is undisputed that the extendable
line curtain was 24 feet fromthe face and not in conpliance with
the applicable plan provision, and that the No. 2 entry was a
wor ki ng place and pillars were not being mned. Under the
circunstances, the petitioner concludes that the conditions
described and cited by the inspector on the face of the order
constitutes a violation of the respondent's ventilation plan.

Wth regard to the respondent's reliance on the Freeman
decision as a defense to the violation, the petitioner concl udes
that it is msplaced, and points out that in the instant case
there is no direct evidence of a curtain being torn or any
"unwitting interference" by the inspector. On the contrary, the
petitioner points out that the inspector asked the bolters if
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t hey knew the proper curtain sequence and "why they didn't do it
that way," and that the bolters offered no defense. The
petitioner concludes that the respondent sinply "got caught” with
the curtain behind just as it had on six previous occasions.

In Consolidation Coal Conpany, 3 FMSHRC 2207 (Septenber
1981), Judge Melick affirmed a violation of section 75.316, for
the failure by the operator to ventilate an entry with a line
curtain. Although the evidence established that the curtain had
been in place 2-1/2-hours prior to the issuance of the citation
but had been taken down for sone unexpl ai ned reason, the judge
found that the absence of the curtain at the time the citation
was issued was still a violation.

In Wndsor Power House Coal Conpany, 2 FMSHRC 671 (March
1980), Conmi ssion review denied April 21, 1980, Judge Melick
affirnmed a violation of section 75.316 because of the operator's
failure to nmaintain adequate ventilation at a working face as
required by its ventilation plan. Even though the evidence showed
that mning was tenporarily halted in the cited area because of a
mechani cal breakdown, the judge found that the absence of the
required ventilation constituted a violation

In Co-Op M ning Conmpany, 5 FMSHRC 2004 (Novenber 1983),
former Conmmi ssion Judge Virgil Vail affirmed a violation of
section 75.316, because of an operator's failure to install a
line curtain as required by its ventilation plan. Al though the
judge considered the fact that the curtain may have been down for
only a short time due to possible rib sloughage, he found that
such an unusual occurrence was no defense. Citing Zeigler Coa
Co., 4 IBMA 30 (1975), aff'd 536 F.2d 398 (D.C. Cir. 1976), and
Consolidation Coal Co., supra, the judge found that when an
operator departs fromhis ventilation plan, a violation of
section 75.316, is established.

In Consolidation Coal Co., 8 FMSHRC 612 (April 1986), Judge
Morris affirmed a violation of section 75.316, because of the
operator's failure to maintain the proper air velocity at a face
as required by its ventilation plan, even though the air reaching
the face may have been interrupted for no nore than 30 seconds
because of a ventilation curtain being pushed against a rib by a
shuttle car trailing cable.

In the Freeman case, the mine operator was cited for a
violation of section 75.316, for failing to maintain the proper
air velocity at the end of a the line curtain as required by its
approved ventilation plan. The facts show that the inspector
observed that the curtain which was installed across the intake
entry directing intake air to the face was down in the corner of
the room causing a gap of approximately 3 feet in the curtain.
When the inspector proceeded to the face to take an air reading,
atrailing cable of a shuttle car becanme entangled in the |ine
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curtain, tearing an 18 to 20 foot gap in it. A shuttle car
operator heard the curtain tear, and after seeing the |arge gap
i medi ately prepared to rehang the curtain as he had been
trained. At the sane tinme, while the inspector was preparing to
take his air reading at the end of the curtain at the face, he
was informed that he would not get an accurate readi ng because
outby in the entry, the line curtain was being rehung. The

i nspector then wal ked back fromthe face, into the room and
directed the shuttle car operator not to hang the curtain because
he had to take an air reading at the face before the curtain
coul d be rehung. The shuttle car operator testified that had he
not been interrupted by the inspector, it would have taken him
about 3 to 4 mnutes to rehang the curtain. The inspector
proceeded to take an air reading, found an insufficient velocity
of air at the face, and issued the violation.

I find that the facts presented in the Freeman case are
di stingui shabl e fromthose presented in the instant proceeding.
In Freeman, the evidence established as a fact that the
ventilation had been tenporarily interrupted by a torn curtain
whi ch occurred while the inspector was on the scene, and the
operator was in the process of restoring the ventilation and
abating the violation shortly before the citation was issued.
Since the inspector had know edge of these facts, but nonethel ess
i ntervened and ordered the operator not to rehang the curtain,
whi ch woul d have restored the ventilation and cured the problem
t he Commi ssion concluded that the inspector's interference with
the operator's efforts to i mmedi ately abate the condition by
rehanging the torn curtain could not support a violation

In the instant case, the evidence establishes that the
i nspector had no personal know edge that the extendable curtain
had been purportedly snagged by the machine and that this may
have caused a tenporary interruption in the ventilation or
sonmehow prevented the roof bolters frominstalling the curtain
and having it in place at the tine of her arrival on the scene.
The inspector's unrebutted testinony reflects that when she
arrived at the scene, the roof-bolting machine was positioned to
begin bolting, the extendable curtain had been noved back and
positioned 24 feet fromthe face, and the bl owi ng curtain was
lying on top of the machine.

Al t hough the inspector conceded that if the bolters were to
foll ow normal procedures, they would first install the bl ow ng
curtain, withdraw the extendable curtain, and then begin bolting,
she found that the bolters had noved the extendabl e curtain back
and had not put up the blowing curtain as required by the plan
Al t hough she al so believed that the bolters would have installed
the blowing curtain if they had intended to do so before
comenci ng bolting, she concluded that the bolters had not
installed the blowing curtain before retracting the extendable
curtain because the blowing curtain was |ying across the machi ne
and had not been
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installed to within 10 feet of the face as required, and that the
resulting reverse procedure followed by the bolters resulted in
an unventil ated face area. Further, while it is true that the

i nspector did not ask the bolters about their intentions, or
whet her they intended to install the blowing curtain before they
began bolting, she confirmed that it would have made no

di fference since the renoval of one type of ventilation in
preparation for the installation of another type of ventilation
woul d still constitute a violation because face ventilation was
not being maintained at all tinmes 10 feet fromthe face.

The inspector confirmed that she saw no evidence of any work
being performed by the bolters, and that they were sinply
standi ng by the machi ne and offered no expl anati on as to why they
had renmoved the ventilation curtains out of sequence, or why the
curtains were not installed. She saw no evidence that the
ext endabl e curtain had been caught or ripped by the machi ne, and
after remaining at the scene to allow the bolters sufficient tine
to install the blow ng curtain, she observed this being done
within 5 mnutes. She confirnmed that had the bolters told her
that the curtain was torn down by the machi ne, she woul d have
taken this into consideration, but that it would have made no
di fference since any entangl enent of the extendable curtain would
not have prevented the bolters frominstalling the bl ow ng
curtain before retracting the extendable curtain. The inspector
further confirnmed that union safety committeeman Jerry Jones was
with her during the inspection, and that on the norning of the
hearing, he told her that both roof bolters disagreed with M.
Nogosky's contention that the curtain had been caught in the
machi ne, but that one of the bolters had "changed his story" and
confirmed that the curtain had been caught in the nachine, but
the other bolter told himthat this was not the case.

The respondent's assertion that the extendable curtain had
been caught in the roof-bolting nmachine is based on the hearsay
testimony of its safety manager Joseph Nogosky. He testified that
in the course of his investigation concerning the issuance of the
order the roof bolters inforned himthat the extendable curtain
becanme entangled in the roof-bolting machine while it was being
trammed in the entry and that the curtain was retracted so that
it could be disentangled fromthe machine. M. Nogosky stated
further that the bolters told himthat they retracted the curtain
before putting up the blowing curtain, that they intended to
install the blowi ng curtain before starting bolting, and were in
the process of doing so when the inspector arrived on the scene,
and that they tried to explain the circunmstances to the
i nspector, but that she stated that it did not matter and
instructed themto hang the curtain up before | eaving. He al so
stated that one of the bolters told himthat he had a hook in his
hand preparing to hang up the blow ng curtain, and that one could
assunme fromthis that the bolter was going to install the
curtain.
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M. Nogosky was not with the inspector during the inspection and

i ssuance of the citation, and he confirned that he made no fornal
report of his investigation and had nothing in witing to support
his testinony concerning what the bolters purportedly told him
Al t hough he indicated that he had made notes, they were not
produced or offered during the hearing. The two roof bolters in
gquestion did not testify, and their pretrial depositions were not
taken. M. Nogosky stated that the roof bolters initially
expressed their willingness to testify, but |later changed their
m nds, and it was then too late to subpoena them Although M.
Nogosky indi cated that other individuals my have been present
when he interviewed the roof bolters, the respondent failed to
call any other wi tnesses for testinmny. M. Nogosky confirmed
that he nmade no effort to contact the inspector when the order

i ssued to explain what the roof bolters purportedly told him and
that he did not seek a conference with MSHA with respect to the
order.

Safety committeeman Jerry Jones testified that he was
present at "the tail end" of the investigation conducted by M.
Nogosky, and he confirmed that the two roof bolters gave him
conflicting accounts with respect to whether or not the
ext endabl e curtain had been caught in the roof-bolting machine.
M. Jones stated that one of the bolters told himthat the
curtain had not been caught in the machine, and the other bolter
told himthat he had knocked the curtain down with the machine.

Al t hough rel evant and material hearsay testinony is
admi ssible in Mne Act proceedings, Secretary of Labor v. Kenny
Ri chardson, 3 FMSHRC 8, 12 n. 7 (January 1981), aff'd 689 F.2d
632 (6th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 77 L.Ed.2d 299 (1983), and
M d- Conti nent Resources, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1132, 1135-1137 (May
1984), M. Jones' testinony, which | find credible, concerning
the conflicting accounts given to himby the two roof bolters,
cast serious doubts in my mind with respect to the reliability
and probativeness of the purported statements nmade by these
bolters to M. Nogosky during his investigation, and | have given
little weight to M. Nogosky's uncorroborated and undocument ed
testi nony.

Havi ng vi ewed the inspector during her testinony, | find her
to be a credible witness and believe her testinmny that she saw
no evidence of the curtain being caught in the machine, and that
the roof bolters offered no explanation as to why they had not
installed the ventilation curtains in question. Further, even if
| were to believe that the curtain had been torn, the evidence
nonet hel ess establishes a violation because the blowi ng curtain
was not installed and |aying on the machine, and M. Nogosky
conceded this was the case. Under all of these circunstances, |
conclude and find that a preponderance of all of the credible and
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probative evidence in this case establishes a violation of
section 75.316, and the violation issued by the inspector IS

AFFI RVED. The respondent's asserted defense and reliance on the
Freeman case, supra, |S REJECTED. | cannot conclude that the
circunst ances presented were so abnormal as to absol ve the
respondent fromits responsibility to insure that its ventilation
pl an was fol |l owed.

Significant and Substantial Violation

A "significant and substantial" violation is described in
section 104(d)(1) of the Mne Act as a violation "of such nature
as could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause
and effect of a coal or other mne safety or health hazard.” 30
C.F.R 0814(d)(1). Aviolation is properly designated

signi ficant and substantial "if, based upon the particular facts
surrounding the violation there exists a reasonable likelihood
that the hazard contributed to will result in an injury or

illness of a reasonably serious nature." Cenment Division
Nati onal Gypsum Co., 3 FMSHRC 822, 825 (April 1981).

In Mathies Coal Co., 6 FMSHRC 1, 3-4 (January 1984), the
Commi ssion explained its interpretation of the term "significant
and substantial" as foll ows:

In order to establish that a violation of a mandatory
safety standard is significant and substantial under
Nati onal Gypsum the Secretary of Labor nust prove: (1)
t he underlying violation of a mandatory safety
standard; (2) a discrete safety hazard--that is, a
measure of danger to safety-contributed to by the
violation; (3) a reasonable |likelihood that the hazard
contributed to will result in an injury; and (4) a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the injury in question wll
be of a reasonably serious nature.

In United States Steel M ning Conmpany, Inc., 7 FMSHRC 1125,
1129, the Commi ssion stated further as foll ows:

We have explained further that the third el ement of the
Mat hies formula "requires that the Secretary establish
a reasonabl e |ikelihood that the hazard contributed to
will result in an event in which there is an injury."
US. Steel Mning Co., 6 FMSHRC 1834, 1836 (August
1984). We have enphasi zed that, in accordance with the
| anguage of section 104(d)(1), it is the contribution
of a violation to the cause and effect of a hazard that
nmust be significant and substantial. U S. Steel M ning
Conpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1866, 1868 (August 1984); U.S.
Steel M ning Conmpany, Inc., 6 FMSHRC 1573, 1574-75
(July 1984).
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The question of whether any particular violation is significant
and substantial nust be based on the particular facts surrounding
the violation, including the nature of the mne involved,
Secretary of Labor v. Texasgulf, Inc., 10 FMSHRC 498 (Apri
1988); Youghi ogheny & Chi o Coal Conpany, 9 FMSHRC 2007 (Decenber
1987) .

The inspector's unrebutted credible testinony reflects that
the respondent's mne is a gassy nmine which freely liberates
nmet hane, and because of this, it is subject to weekly spot
i nspections by MSHA. She believed that the failure to maintain
the ventilation curtain to within 10 feet of the face to contro
met hane and carry away hazardous dust presented a potential for a
met hane buil dup at the face, and that such nethane accunul ati ons
presented an ignition, fire, and explosion hazard, and that in
the event of such incidents, it would be highly likely that
m ners working in the affected area would likely suffer burn
i njuries.

At the time of the inspection, the inspector was aware of
the fact that a nethane ignition and fire had previously occurred
on anot her section of the mne on Septenber 19, 1988, and that
two mners suffered burns as a result of that incident. MSHA s
report of investigation of that incident reflects that the
ignition occurred when a flammabl e nmethane/air m xture was
ignited by heat and/or sparks generated fromthe cutting head of
a continuous-mnning machine while cutting top rock down (exhibit
P-4). The report also reflects that at the time of the ignition
the ventilation line curtain was approximately 25 feet of the
face, in violation of section 75.316, that the cutting sequence
mandat ed by the approved ventilation system and met hane
dust-control plan was not being followed, and that the
conti nuous-m ni ng machi ne net hane nonitor was not properly
cal i br at ed.

The inspector also confirned that she previously issued two
citations on January 18, 1989, for violations of section 75. 316,
and the approved ventilation plan, because of the failure by the
respondent to maintain the ventilation curtains to within 10 feet
of the face, and that she also issued a citation and section
104(d) (2) order and inmm nent danger order on Decenber 6, 1988,
and October 11, 1988, citing violations of section 75.302-1(a),
because of the failure by the respondent to nmintain the
ventilation curtains to within the required di stances fromthe
face (exhibits P-5 through P-8).

In the instant case, the inspectors testified credibly that
at the tinme she observed the cited conditions, the roof-bolting
machi ne was positioned to begin roof bolting, and that the
machi ne was a source of ignition because it generates heat
capabl e of igniting nethane. She also believed that any
perm ssibility violations with respect to the roof bolter, and
friction fromthe drill bits, would also be potential sources of
ignition.
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Al t hough she conceded that the two roof bolters had not actually
comenced bol ting when she observed the condition, and that no
roof bolting was taking place, and she found no perm ssibility
viol ations, since the mining machi ne had just finished cutting
coal and would be noved to another entry, the two roof bolters
were there to begin bolting, and she considered all of these
factors in the context of continued mning operations, including
her expectation that the roof bolters would normally have started
bolti ng operations. G ven her prior experience with previous
citations which she had issued for not maintaining the
ventilation curtains, | cannot conclude that the inspector's
belief that the bolters would conrence bolting operations without
the required ventilation curtains in place was unreasonabl e.

The respondent asserts that while there was a nonentary
interruption to ventilation, little if any hazard resulted, and
that the regular line brattice was in place within 24 feet of the
face, no mning was taking place, and that 0.2 percent nethane
was present at the |ast permanent support 20-22 feet fromthe
face. The respondent acknow edges that the roof-bolting machine
was energi zed, and that the bolters told the inspector that they
had pulled the extendable curtain back to prepare for bolting
before installing the blowing curtain, and that they knew that
the respondent's ventilation and dust-control plan required the
bl owi ng curtain to be installed before pulling back the
ext endabl e curtain.

The section foreman did not testify in this case. The
respondent's safety manager Joseph Nogosky, who did not acconpany
the inspector and did not observe the cited conditions, conceded
that the roof bolters had not as yet conpleted their work shift
at the tine the order was issued by the inspector, and that they
woul d have been in the process of bolting since the day crew had
not as yet arrived to "change out" with them M. Nogosky al so
conceded that the ventilation plan required the blowi ng curtain
to be installed first before the extendable curtain was
installed, and that the blowing curtain was not up when the
i nspector observed the cited condition

After careful review of all of the evidence and testinony, |
conclude and find that the credible testinony of the inspector
establishes that the violation was significant and substanti al
The respondent's assertion that the "nonentary | apse" of
ventilation did not present a hazard is rejected. The
respondent's assertions that no hazard exi sted because the roof
bolter was not in operation and that only .2 percent nethane was
detected 20-22 feet the face is likewise rejected. In ny view, it
is highly likely that nmethane can rapidly accunul ate at the face
during "nmonmentary | apses” of ventilation, and the inspector
expl ai ned that hi gher nethane readings may be expected in the
face, particularly when a line curtain is not in place.
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In United States Steel Mning Co., 3 MSHC 1282 (1984), the judge
uphel d a violation of section 75.316, and found that it was a
significant and substantial violation because the reduced anount
of ventilation air reaching the face as a result of a reversal in
the air course made concentrations of nethane nore likely. In the
i nstant case, the mne |liberates nethane freely and is on a
weekly spot inspection cycle. A nmethane ignition and fire had
previously occurred less than 5-nonths prior to the inspection in
guestion, with resulting burn injuries to two mners. The prior
failure by the respondent to maintain the ventilation curtains as
required by its plan is evidenced by the prior violations issued
by this same inspector. In view of all of this informati on which
was available to the inspector, | conclude and find that her
belief that roof bolting would have proceeded in the normal
course of mning operations, and that it was reasonably likely
t hat anot her nethane ignition would have occurred because of the
failure to properly maintain the ventilation curtains cited in
this case, was reasonable in the circunstances. Accordingly, |
agree with the inspector's significant and substantial finding,
and I T IS AFFI RVED

The Unwarrantabl e Failure |ssue

The governing definition of unwarrantable failure was

expl ained in Zeigler Coal Conpany, 7 |BMA 280 (1977), decided

under the 1969 Act, and it held in pertinent part as follows at

295- 96:
In Iight of the foregoing, we hold that an inspector
should find that a violation of any mandatory standard
was caused by an unwarrantable failure to conply with
such standard if he determ nes that the operator
i nvol ved has failed to abate the conditions or
practices constituting such violation, conditions or
practices the operator knew or should have known
existed or which it failed to abate because of a |ack
of due diligence, or because of indifference or |ack of
reasonabl e care

In several recent decisions concerning the interpretation
and application of the term"unwarrantable failure," the
Commi ssion further refined and explained this term and concl uded
that it neans "aggravated conduct, constituting nore than
ordi nary negligence, by a nine operator in relation to a
violation of the Act." Energy M ning Corporation, 9 FMSHRC 1997
(Decenber 1987); Youghi ogheny & OChi o Coal Conpany, 9 FMSHRC 2007
(Decenber 1987); Secretary of Labor v. Rushton M ning Conpany, 10
FMSHRC 249 (March 1988). Referring to its prior holding in the
Emery M ning case, the Comm ssion stated as follows in
Youghi ogheny & Chio, at 9 FMSHRC 2010:
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We stated that whereas negligence is conduct that is
"inadvertent," "thoughtless" or "inattentive," unwarrantable
conduct is conduct that is described as "not justifiable" or
"inexcusable.” Only by construing unwarrantable failure by a mne
operator as aggravated conduct constituting nore that ordinary
negl i gence, do unwarrantable failure sanctions assune their
i ntended distinct place in the Act's enforcenent schene.

In Enery M ning, the Conm ssion explained the neaning of the
phrase "unwarrantable failure" as follows at 9 FMSHRC 2001

We first determ ne the ordinary neani ng of the phrase
"unwarrantable failure.” "Unwarrantable"” is defined as
"not justifiable"” or "inexcusable." "Failure" is
defined as "negl ect of an assigned, expected, or
appropriate action." Webster's Third New Internationa
Di ctionary (Unabridged) 2514, 814 (1971) ("Wbster's").
Conparatively, negligence is the failure to use such
care as a reasonably prudent and careful person woul d
use and is characterized by "inadvertence,"

"t hought | essness,” and "inattention." Black's Law
Dictionary 930-31 (5th ed. 1979). Conduct that is not
justifiable and i nexcusable is the result of nore than
i nadvertence, thoughtlessness, or inattention. * * *

The Petitioner's Argunents

In support of the inspector's unwarrantable failure finding
in this case, the petitioner does not contend that violations are
unwar r ant abl e per se, when there exists prior violations of the
sane standard. The petitioner takes the position that "the unique
factual history in this case, especially managenment's
i nvol venent ," conpels the concl usion that the respondent
denonstrated "indi fference" or "total |lack of interest" regarding
ventilation curtain violations, and that such indifference is
denmonstrated by managenent's condoning of the curtain violation
in question.

In support of its argument, the petitioner asserts that
I nspector McCormick was assigned to the subject mne in
Sept enber, 1988, and that her initial involvenment with curtain
vi ol ati ons occurred when she term nated two section 104(d)(2)
orders which had been issued on Septenber 20, 1988, on the No. 9
section for violations of section 75.316, and the same
ventilation plan at issue in the instant case (exhibit P-4). The
petitioner points out that one of the orders was issued for a
violation of the identical plan provision which was violated in
this case (failure to maintain an extendable line curtain to
within 10 feet of the face), that the violation contributed to a
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nmet hane ignition, that burned two nminers, and that the
respondent's section coordinator, Paul Boyd, was present during
MSHA' s investigation of that incident.

The petitioner asserts that 3 weeks after the aforesaid
met hane ignition, Inspector McCormick issued a section 104(d)(2)
order on Cctober 1, 1988, on the No. 9 section, for a violation
of section 75.302-1(a), for failure to maintain a line curtain to
within 10 feet of a face where a continuous-m ning machine was in
operation (exhibit P-6). Petitioner points out that the
respondent's section coordinator Paul Boyd was in the working
place at the tinme of the violation, and since M. Boyd had been
i nvol ved in the previous MSHA investigation of the Septenber,
1988, methane ignition, it concludes that M. Boyd condoned the
violation issued by Inspector MCorn ck

The petitioner asserts that the next experience |nspector
McCormick had with line curtain violations was on Decenber 6,
1988, when she issued a section 104(a) citation for a violation
of section 75.302(a), after finding that a line curtain on the
No. 9 section had bene partially renoved by a scoop crew, and
that this condition contributed to an i mm nent danger which she
i ssued in connection with the citation in that 1.4 percent
met hane was detected at the face (exhibits P-7, P-8).

The petitioner states that the final |ine curtain violation
detected by Inspector McCormck prior to the issuance of the
contested order in this case occurred on January 18, 1989, when
she issued two section 104(a) citations for violations of section
75. 316, for the failure to install line curtains to within 10
feet of the face in the No. 3 and No. 4 entries of the No. 10
section. The petitioner asserts that these violations were not
particul arly hazardous because no equi pnent was in either place
at the tinme. However, the petitioner views these citations as
significant because A enn Rollins, the o shift foreman
responsi ble for the two roof bolters in the instant case, was
also "involved" with the two prior citations. Under the
ci rcunmst ances, the petitioner believes that the issuance of these
citations had no deterrent effect because the order issued by the
i nspector in the instant case canme 2 weeks later for a violation
of the sanme regulation on the same m ne section.

The petitioner believes that after the Septenber ignition in
which two mners were burned, "one would think that line curtain
vi ol ati ons woul d be non-existent at the Cak Grove Mne." Yet 3
weeks after the ignition, the section coordi nator condoned the
same viol ative practice on the same section, and notw thstanding
these two events, line curtain violations continued, and the
i nspector found three identical violations on the sane section
within three inspection shifts. The petitioner concludes that the
serious nature of these violations and their recurring frequency
denonstrates an "indifferent" attitude and a "total or
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nearly total lack of interest"” by the respondent and that it
appears that the respondent considered the violations of "little
consequence" as evidenced by their recurring frequency.

The Respondent's Argunents

The respondent argues that only a mine operator can comt
an unwarrantable failure violation, and that under section 3(d)
of the Act, an operator includes a person who operates, controls
or supervises a mne but does not include a rank-and-file m ner
Citing Rochester & Pittsburgh Coal Co., 11 FMSHRC 1978, 1983
(Cctober 1989), the respondent takes the position that the
conduct of a rank-and-file m ner cannot be inputed to a mne
operator for purposes of an unwarrantable failure finding and
that the action of the two roof bolters in this case are
immaterial in determ ning whether an unwarrantable failure
occurred since the actions of the respondent's nanagenent
personnel alone are rel evant.

The respondent asserts that the inspector's belief that an
unwarrant abl e failure occurred because "a particularly hazardous
situation" existed that inposed a "hei ghtened duty"” upon the
respondent "to be aware of what electrical equipnment was doing in
the face," and that she considered the fact that the line curtain
was further than 10 feet fromthe face to be a particularly
hazardous condition is inpossible to reconcile with the
ventilation plan which requires the extendable line curtain to be
retracted before the first row of bolts is installed. Respondent
asserts that as bolting progresses, the curtain is advanced to
the first row of bolts outby the row being set, and that the
curtain is not extended to within 10 feet of the face unti
bolting is conpleted. Under these circunmstances, the respondent
concludes that the "particularly hazardous situation" is an
approved practice under its ventilation plan.

The respondent argues that the inspector's perception that
the respondent had a "hei ghtened duty" to be aware of what the
equi pnrent was doing in the face is based on an erroneous
assertion that the day shift section foreman MIton Presley
shoul d have checked on the roof bolter operators (Tr. 48-51).
Respondent points out that the cited incident occurred at 7:14
a.m, before the "hot seat" crew change took place and that the
roof bolters were ow shift crew nenbers who were supervi sed by
that shift's section foreman G en Rollins, and that M. Presley
and his day shift crew had not yet arrived on the section (Tr.
51, 164-165).

Wth regard to the inspector's reliance on the respondent's
hi story of prior violations, the respondent asserts that the fact
that a simlar violation occurred in the past does not establish
i nexcusabl e neglect if such a violation reoccurs. The respondent
poi nts out that the previously cited conditions in the No. 10
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section were not simlar to the conditions cited in the instant
case and there was no equi pment in the place where the curtain
had not been maintained within 10 feet of the face. Further
there is no evidence that the two bolters in this case were

i nvolved in the prior incident. Under the circunmstances, the
respondent concludes that foreman Rollins had no reason to
closely supervise two experienced bolters in the perfornmance of
routi ne work when they had exhibited no carel essness or negl ect
in the past, and he had no obligation to be present while they
nmoved the roof-bolting machine into place to comrence bolting,
and that his failure to supervise their every nove is not
aggravat ed conduct anounting to an unwarrantable failure.

The evi dence establishes that during a "hot seat" change
bet ween working shifts there is little or no interruption in the
production cycle and the equi pnment is not shutdown and is
generally in use between shifts. The inspector conceded that when
she arrived at the scene, the shifts were in the process of
changi ng, and that the two roof bolters were fromthe "ow shift"
and were only present for 5 or 10 minutes prior to her arrival.
Al t hough the inspector also conceded that she would not have
expected the fire boss to observe that the ventilation curtains
were not in place and take appropriate action, she believed that
inlight of the prior history of citations, the section foreman
shoul d have checked on the roof bolters when they were in the
cited area to insure that they conplied with the ventilation
pl an.

The evidence further establishes that Inspector MCorm ck
was on the section during the day shift. She testified that the
section foreman was not on the section when she arrived and that
he was "outby." She stated that she net himas she was | eaving
the working place, but she could not recall speaking with him
and she conceded that she nade no inquiries to determ ne when the
foreman had | ast been with the roof bolters. She identified the
foreman as the day shift foreman MIton Presley, but she admitted
that the o shift section foreman who was responsible for the
supervision of the roof bolters in question was den Rollins and
that he was | eaving the section as she was comng in (Tr. 48-52).
Al t hough the inspector testified on direct that she spoke with
M. Rollins (Tr. 51), she later testified that she could not
recall speaking with him (Tr. 160). She also confirmed that she
encountered M. Presley after she had issued the violation (Tr.
159).

I find the inspector's expectation that day shift foreman
Presl ey shoul d have been present to observe the roof bolters to
i nsure the proper placenent of the ventilation curtains to be
unreasonabl e. As the day shift foreman, M. Presley had no
supervi sory responsibility for the roof bolters who were under
the supervision of M. Rollins, and at the tine the inspector net
M. Presley she had already issued the violation. Wth regard to
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M. Rollins, although the inspector indicated that she was

| eaving the scene to find him(Tr. 61), her testinony that she
may have spoken with himis contradictory, and there is no

evi dence that she ever discussed the matter with himor that she
had any evi dence that he was never present when the roof bolters
may have been working on the section, or that he was aware of the
fact that the ventilation curtains were not in place.

I find no support for the inspector's belief or suggestion
that foreman Rollins should have been present when the roof
bolters were performing their work to insure that the ventilation
curtains were properly in place. There is no evidence that the
roof bolters were other than experienced mners, nor is there any
evi dence that they were ever involved in any of the other
previously issued citations relied on by the inspector as part of
her unwarrantable failure finding. The inspector testified that
the roof bolters would normally go about their business and
install the ventilation curtains before beginning their roof
bolting duties. In the absence of any evidence that the roof
bolters were not properly trained, were ignorant of the
requi renments of the ventilation plan, or had engaged in previous
acts of carelessness or neglect, | find no basis for concluding
that M. Rollins should have been expected to be present when
they were preparing to roof bolt in order to insure that the
ventilation curtains were properly in place. Notw thstanding the
i ssuance of the prior citations, and the fact that M. Rollins
may have been aware of these citations, | find no reason why he
shoul d be required or expected to be present in each and every
wor ki ng place on the section to personally supervise his crew
whil e they go about their work. If the petitioner believes that
such a requirenent may be necessary as part of the respondent's
ventilation plan, it may wish to explore this further as part of
the regul atory ventilation plan approval process.

Wth regard to M. Rollins' "involvenment" with the previous
citations issued by the inspector on January 18, 1989, no further
testi mony or explanation was forthcomng fromthe inspector as to
the extent of M. Rollins' involvenment other than that the
citations were issued on the nunmber 10 section. | take note of
the fact that the citations were served on J. C. Sims, and that
they were issued during the day shift at 9:30 and 9:35 a.m
(exhibit P-5). The inspector confirmed that these previously
i ssued citations did not involve any roof-bolting machine in
place in the face area, and in fact, the inspector conceded that
no mning activity was taking place, and no equi pnent was in
place in the cited areas, and the petitioner conceded that the
vi ol ations were not particularly hazardous.

Wth regard to the petitioner's argunents concerning the
respondent's section coordi nator Paul Boyd, and his "invol venent"
with the prior citations in Septenber, 1988, and Cctober, 1988,
the record reflects that M. Boyd's "involvenment" with the
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Sept enber, 1988 citations which resulted fromthe methane
ignition, was limted to his participation in the MSHA

i nvestigation of that incident (exhibit P-4). M. Boyd's
"involvenment"” in the October, 1988, was nmore direct in that

I nspector McCormick served the violation on him indicated in the
face of the order that "the section coordinator” was in the place
at the time the violative conditions were observed, and she
testified that this was in fact the case (Exhibit P-6, Tr. 25,
33).

| take note of the fact that the prior citations concerning
M. Boyd were issued on the No. 9 section, and not the No. 10
section where the violation in the instant case occurred. The
Cctober, 1988, citation concerned a violation of section
75.302-1(a), and a continuous-m ning nmachine, rather than a roof
bolter, was operating in the section. MSHA's report of
i nvestigation reflects that the Septenber, 1988, citations
concerned a methane ignition which occurred when a
conti nuous-m ni ng machi ne was cutting down top rock

Al t hough I nspector McCormick testified that a section
coordi nator, such as M. Boyd, had supervisory authority over al
of the section forenmen, she confirmed that his supervisory
authority was limted to the foremen on the No. 9 section, and
not to foremen on the No. 10 section, or foremen in general (Tr.
33). There is no evidence that M. Boyd exercised any supervisory
authority over section foremen Rollins or Presley, the foremen on
the No. 10 section at the time the violation in the instant case
was issued.

I find no evidence to support the petitioner's concl usion
that the respondent's section coordi nator Paul Boyd condoned
vi ol ati ons of the respondent’'s ventilation plan or violations of
the previously cited safety standards. Such a concl usi on concerns
possi bl e crimnal conduct and should not be nade or taken
lightly. If the Secretary truly believes that a cul pabl e section
foreman or other menmber of m ne managenent has engaged i n any
such egregious conduct with respect to violations of the |aw she
shoul d seriously consider instituting a section 110(c) proceeding
agai nst the offending party rather than "bootstrappi ng" such an
unsupported conclusion as part of an unwarrantable failure
argunment. Further, if the Secretary also believes that a nine
operator's mne managenent has exhibited "indifference" or a
"total lack of interest" regarding repetitious violations, she
shoul d seriously consider the tinely inplenmentation of the
"pattern of violations" provisions found in section 104(e)(1) of
the Act. In ny view, the use of these available statutory
sanctions would provide a nore direct and effective neans of
i nsuring conpliance in an appropriate situation

In the instant case, the unrebutted testinony of safety
manager Joseph Nogosky reflects that the respondent took
di sciplinary action against M. Boyd as a result of the Cctober,
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1988, citation issued by the inspector (Tr. 149). The record al so
reflects that M. Nogosky conducted an investigation of the
contested order in this case, and that the m ne safety conmttee,
t he general mne foreman, and the mne superintendent were
present during the inquiry. M. Nogosky confirned that he spoke
with foreman Rollins and the roof bolters in an effort to
ascertain why the order had issued, and he stated that it is a
comon practice at the mine for managenment to investigate al
unwarrantable failure orders (Tr. 109). M. Nogosky further
confirmed that the roof bolters were not disciplined because he
believed they reacted properly to an "abnormal situation" (Tr.
121).

In view of the foregoing, |I cannot conclude that m ne
managenment was indifferent or "lacked interest" in the order
i ssued by the inspector in this case. The record establishes that
managenent di sciplined section coordi nator Boyd, and foll ow ng
its customary procedure, investigated the circunstances
surroundi ng the issuance of the contested order by the inspector
in this case. Further, the UMM chairman of the nmine safety
conmittee Jerry Jones testified that he conducted no
i nvestigation of the incident, failed to tell m ne managenent
about the conflicting "stories" related to himby the two roof
bolters, and no testinony was forthcomng from M. Jones about
any of the prior citations or the asserted general neglect of
ventilation curtain requirenents on the part of nm ne management.
| also take note of the fact that the cited conditions in this
case were abated within 6 mnutes, that the two prior citations
i ssued by the inspector in January, 1989, were term nated within
10 and 20 minutes, and that the citati on of Decenber, 1988, was
termnated within 13 m nutes.

The petitioner in this case does not contend that
repetitious violations of a mandatory standard may per se serve
as the basis for an unwarrantable failure finding. |Inspector
McCorm ck testified that part of her unwarrantable failure
finding was based on the respondent's prior violations (Tr. 27,
29, 61), but that this was but one factor that she considered
(Tr. 29). The other factor which she considered was her belief
that the respondent had a "heightened duty to be aware of what
the el ectrical equipnent was doing in the face" because in her
view, the violative conditions presented a "particularly
hazardous situation" which the respondent shoul d have been aware
of (Tr. 27, 47-48). In ny view, the inspector's concern about any
hazards associated with the cited conditions is relevant in the
context of a gravity or "S&S" finding, rather than the
unwar rant abl e nature of the violation

The thrust of the petitioner's unwarrantable failure
argunent is its belief that nm ne managenent has engaged in a
course of conduct which establishes that it condones violations
of its ventilation plan and has clearly denonstrated an
"indifferent" attitude and "lack of interest” in insuring
conpliance with the
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concl usions, and after careful consideration of the entire record

in this case, | find no evidentiary support for the petitioner's
argunents and concl usi ons concerning the conduct of nine
managenent in this case. | cannot conclude that the petitioner

has establi shed any aggravated conduct on the part of the
respondent with respect to the contested order issued by the

i nspector in this case. Under the circunstances, the inspector's
finding in this regard IS VACATED, and the order IS MODIFIED to a
section 104(a) citation, with "S&S" findings.

Si ze of Business and Effect of Civil Penalty Assessnment on the
Respondent's Ability to Continue in Business

The parties stipulated that the respondent is a |large m ne
operator and that the paynent of the civil penalty assessnent for
the violation will not adversely affect its ability to continue
in business. | adopt these stipulations as nmy findings and
concl usi ons on these issues.

Good Faith Abatenent

The parties stipulated that the violation in question was
tinmely abated by the respondent. The record establishes that
abat enent was conpleted within 5 or 6 mnutes when the roof
bolters installed the required ventilation curtains. | conclude
and find that the cited conditions were tinmely abated in good
faith by the respondent.

Gavity

In view of my "S&S" findings, | conclude and find that the
viol ati on was serious.

Negl i gence

I conclude and find that the violation resulted fromthe
respondent's failure to exercise reasonable care to insure that
the required ventilation curtains were installed and in place at
the time the inspector observed the cited conditions, and that
this failure on the respondent's part was the result of ordinary
negl i gence.

Hi story of Prior Violations

The petitioner did not produce or offer a conmputer print-out
listing the respondent’'s prior conpliance record. The pl eadings
i nclude an MSHA Form 1000-179, which is a part of the proposed
assessment "papers" served on the respondent, and the information
contained therein reflects that the respondent was cited for 518
assessed violations during the 24-nonth period preceding the
i ssuance of the contested order. However, in the absence of any
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conmputer print-out or further information concerning the tota
nunber of section 75.316 violations, | amunable to nake any
speci fic conclusions or findings other than to take note of the
total nunmber of prior assessed violations attributable to the
respondent. However, | have taken this information into
consideration, including copies of the prior citations which are
of record in this case, which reflect four prior violations of
section 75. 316.

Civil Penalty Assessnent

The respondent took issue with the narrative findings of
MSHA' s " Speci al Assessnent” office which indicates that the roof
bolters were actually installing roof bolts at the tinme the
i nspector observed the cited conditions. The inspector agreed
that these "assunptions" are incorrect and that the bolters were
not installing roof bolts when she observed the violative
conditions. The respondent also took issue with several other
"assunptions” and "concl usi ons" which appear in the narrative
findings, and he inspector agreed that some of these are
incorrect (Tr. 67-73). It is clear that | am not bound by any
"speci al assessnment” made in this case, nor am| bound by the
narrative statements made in support of the proposed civi
penalty assessnent nade in this case. In any event, | find nerit
in the respondent's objections to the accuracy of these
statenents and have considered its argunments in connection with
the civil penalty assessnment which | have made in this case.

On the basis of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons, and
taking into account the civil penalty assessnment criteria found
in section 110(i) of the Act, | conclude and find that a civi
penalty assessnment in the amount of $500 is reasonabl e and
appropriate in this case

ORDER

The respondent IS ORDERED to pay a civil penalty assessment
in the anount of $500 for the violation which has been affirned
in this case. Paynment is to be made to the petitioner within
thirty (30) days of the date of this decision and order, and upon
recei pt of paynent, this matter is dism ssed.

Ceorge A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge



